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FISCAL YEAR ENDING: MAY 31 FY 2016 FY 2015
ACADEMIC YEAR 2015-16 2014-15

ENROLLMENT, RETENTION, GRADUATION
Undergraduate FTE (Fall) 3,019 3,004
Undergraduate Headcount (Fall) 3,046 3,034

% Men / Women 43 / 57 42 / 58
% Who Are In-State / Out-of-State 42 / 58 48 / 52
% White / Domestic Minority / International 75 / 17 / 8 77 / 16 / 7

1st Year to Sophomore 93.2% 92.7%
Sophomore to Junior 87.9% 88.9%
Junior to Senior 86.8% 87.7%
Four-Year Graduation Rate 84.6% 85.2%
Five-Year Graduation Rate 87.6% 86.9%

.
Number of Seniors (May) 775 672
Number of Declared Majors 1,047 908
Top five Majors

1st Biology 12.2% Biology 11.4%
2nd Economics 8.7% Psychology 8.0%
3rd Mathematics 7.7% Economics 7.5%
4th Psychology 7.0% Mathematics 7.5%
5th Music 5.4% English 6.6%

Post-graduation Activities Class of 2015 Class of 2014
Responses / Response Rate 584 / 90% 690 / 91%
Activates:

Working (Full or Part-Time) / percent 381 / 65% 416 / 60%
Service Programs / percent 46 / 8% 80 / 12%
Furthering Education / percent 136 / 23% 173 / 25%
Other Activities / percent 21 / 4% 21 / 3%

NEW STUDENT ADMISSIONS (Fall)
Applications (1st Year / Transfer) 7,571 / 135 4,875 / 141
Acceptances (1st Year / Transfer) 2,723 / 51 2,500 / 68
Acceptance Rate (1st Year / Transfer) 36% / 38% 51.3% / 48.2%
Matriculates (1st Year / Transfer) 763 / 23 765 / 26
Yield Rate (1st Year / Transfer) 28% / 45% 30.6% / 38.2%

% 1st Year Men/Women 46 / 54 41 / 59
% 1st Year In-State/Out-of-State 39 / 61 44 / 56
% 1st Year 1st Generation to College 19 17

Median ACT - 1st Year 29 29
Median SAT - 1st Year 1280 1280

FACULTY AND STAFF EMPLOYED  (Fall)
Faculty / Staff / Total - FTE 278 / 389 / 667 286 / 387 / 673
Faculty / Staff / Total - Full-time Headcount 248 / 338 / 586 253 / 339 / 592
Faculty / Staff / Total - Part-time Headcount 91 / 152 / 243 100 / 144 / 244

TUITION AND FEES PER STUDENT
Tuition 42,940$                41,700$              
Room & Board 9,790                    9,500                  
Total Comprehensive Fee 52,730$                51,200$              

FINANCIAL AID - SCHOLARSHIPS & GRANTS
Federal Grants 2,497,907$           2,406,966$         
State Grants 1,750,775             1,610,272           
Institutional Scholarships & Grants 64,126,853           59,076,476         
Outside Scholarships & Grant 2,792,016             2,675,406           
Total 71,167,551$         65,769,120$       
Total Per Student FTE 23,576$                21,894$              

ENDOWMENT
Market Value at Fiscal Year End 447,701,139$       455,506,474$     
Market Value per FTE Student 148,311$              151,633$            
Total Return on Investments -2.8% 3.8%

ST. OLAF COLLEGE

HIGHLIGHTS (Unaudited)
For the Years Ended May 31, 2016 and 2015



 

Baker Tilly Virchow Krause, LLP 
225 S Sixth St, Ste 2300 
Minneapolis, MN 55402-4661 
tel 612 876 4500 
fax 612 238 8900 
bakertilly.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT

To the Board of Regents
St. Olaf College
Northfield, Minnesota

Report on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of St. Olaf College (the "College"), which comprise the
statements of financial position as of May 31, 2016 and 2015, and the related statements of activities and cash
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.

Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the design,
implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our
audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the assessment of
the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk
assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's preparation and fair presentation of
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for
the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express
no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit
opinion.
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Opinion

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial
position of St. Olaf College as of May 31, 2016 and 2015, and the changes in its net assets and its cash flows for
the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America.

Other Matters

Report on Supplementary and Other Information

Our audits were conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements as a whole. The
accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards, as required by Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal
Regulations (CFR) Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for
Federal Awards, is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the financial
statements. Such information is the responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to
the underlying accounting and other records used to prepare the financial statements. The information has been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the financial statements and certain additional
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and other
records used to prepare the financial statements or to the financial statements themselves, and other additional
procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. In our
opinion, the information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the financial statements as a whole.

The "Highlights" on page 1 is presented for purposes of additional analysis and is not a required part of the
financial statements. Such information has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of
the financial statements, and accordingly, we do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on it.

Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 5, 2016 on
our consideration of St. Olaf College's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose of
that report is to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on internal control over financial reporting or on
compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the College's internal control over financial reporting and compliance.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
October 5, 2016
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See accompanying notes to the financial statements. Page 4

2016 2015

Cash and cash equivalents 14,396,858$      22,125,790$       
Receivables
    Accounts, net (Note 4) 2,161,211 1,652,843
    Contributions, net (Note 5) 8,898,491 9,254,166
    Student loans, net (Note 6) 6,451,808 6,550,927
Investments (Note 7) 471,243,321 482,372,068
Other assets 1,251,908 1,484,290
Deposits held by trustee (Note 7) 23,041,178 5,747,970
Beneficial interest in trusts held by others, held at fair value (Note 7) 1,582,470 1,718,347
Beneficial interest in trusts held by others, held at cost (Note 1) 491,350             491,350              
Property, plant and equipment, net (Note 9) 235,401,670      225,414,586       

            TOTAL ASSETS 764,920,265$    756,812,337$     

LIABILITIES
    Accounts payable 6,660,886$        5,621,542$         
    Accrued and other liabilities (Note 10) 15,360,727 14,961,073
    Deferred revenue 2,797,048 3,049,447
    Annuities payable (Note 17) 13,073,837 14,572,916
    Interest rate exchange liability (Notes 7 and 18) 608,920
    Long-term debt (Note 14) 97,084,701 74,591,554
    U.S. government grants refundable 5,437,487 6,190,067
    Deposits held in trust for others 1,752,638          3,026,630           
        Total Liabilities 142,167,324      122,622,149       

NET ASSETS
    Unrestricted (Note 2) 264,095,592      270,065,026       
    Temporarily restricted (Note 2) 156,381,653      174,839,933       
    Permanently restricted (Note 2) 202,275,696      189,285,229       
        Total Net Assets 622,752,941      634,190,188       

            TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 764,920,265$    756,812,337$     

ST. OLAF COLLEGE

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
As of May 31, 2016 and 2015

ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS
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ST. OLAF COLLEGE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
For the Year Ended May 31, 2016 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

OPERATING REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT
        Tuition 128,338,896$    128,338,896$   
            Less:  Unfunded scholarships and grants (57,958,996)       (57,958,996)      
                       Funded scholarships and grants (7,449,644)                                                     (7,449,644)        
                Net tuition 62,930,256                                                          62,930,256       
        Other tuition and fees 4,163,394 4,163,394         
        Government grants 3,175,443 3,175,443         
        Private gifts and grants 4,123,211 3,681,741$        7,804,952         
        Long-term investment income and gains allocated for operations  5,637,449 10,052,628 15,690,077       
        Other sources 3,463,731 68,627 3,532,358         
        Investment income 203,353 34,673 238,026            
        Net gains (losses) on investments and capital assets 14,437               (2,155)               12,282              
        Capital gifts allocated 1,870,851          1,870,851         
        Auxiliary enterprises - sales and services 29,178,497                                                    29,178,497       

112,889,771      15,706,365        128,596,136     
        Net assets released from restrictions (Notes 1 and 3) 15,580,278        (15,580,278)                                                  
                Total Operating Revenues, Gains and Other Support 128,470,049      126,087                                   128,596,136     

OPERATING EXPENSES
    Program expenses
        Instruction 54,028,620 54,028,620       
        Research 2,131,513   2,131,513         
        Public service 617,196  617,196            
        Academic support 11,991,627  11,991,627       
        Student services 19,018,626  19,018,626       
        Auxiliary enterprises 19,710,281 19,710,281       
    Support expenses        
        Institutional support 10,401,290 10,401,290       
        Fundraising 4,801,139                                                      4,801,139         
               Total Operating Expenses (Note 16) 122,700,292                                                  122,700,292     

            Change in Net Assets from Operating Activities 5,769,757          126,087                                   5,895,844         

NONOPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Long-term investment activities
        Investment income (loss) 620,086 1,401,122 (14,098)$            2,007,110         
        Net gains (losses) on investments (5,565,646)         (9,051,141)         101,951             (14,514,836)      
            Total long-term investment income (loss) (4,945,560)         (7,650,019)         87,853               (12,507,726)      
        Less:  Long-term investment income and gains allocated for operations  (5,637,449)         (10,052,628)                             (15,690,077)      

(10,583,009)       (17,702,647)       87,853               (28,197,803)      
    Student loan income net of expenses (3,562)               74,388               70,826              
    Capital giving activities - gifts and grants 3,119,507          1,030,866          10,916,513        15,066,886       
    Deferred giving activities - gifts 2,306                 4,793                 82,913               90,012              
    Capital gifts allocated to operations (1,870,851)         (1,870,851)        
    Adjustment to actuarial liability for annuities payable (96,843)              3,906                 (1,082,824)         (1,175,761)        
    Adjustment to prior service cost and actuarial liability for retiree health plan  87,671               87,671              
    Loss due to refinancing (1,404,071)                                                     (1,404,071)        

(8,878,001)         (18,533,933)       10,078,843        (17,333,091)      
    Reclassification of prior year net assets (2,861,190)         (50,434)              2,911,624                               

            Change in Net Assets from Nonoperating Activities (11,739,191)       (18,584,367)       12,990,467        (17,333,091)      

                Change in Net Assets (5,969,434)         (18,458,280)       12,990,467        (11,437,247)      
    

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 270,065,026      174,839,933      189,285,229      634,190,188     
 

    NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 264,095,592$    156,381,653$    202,275,696$    622,752,941$   
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ST. OLAF COLLEGE

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES AND CHANGE IN NET ASSETS
For the Year Ended May 31, 2015 

Temporarily Permanently
Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total

OPERATING REVENUES, GAINS AND OTHER SUPPORT
        Tuition 123,894,969$    123,894,969$   
            Less:  Unfunded scholarships and grants (53,103,607)       (53,103,607)      
                       Funded scholarships and grants (6,927,914)                                                     (6,927,914)        
                Net tuition 63,863,448                                                          63,863,448       
        Other tuition and fees 3,928,480 3,928,480         
        Government grants 2,859,790 2,859,790         
        Private gifts and grants 3,523,366 5,006,245$        8,529,611         
        Long-term investment income and gains allocated for operations  5,058,968 8,964,914 14,023,882       
        Other sources 3,176,077 80,108 3,256,185         
        Investment income 221,215 36,859 258,074            
        Net losses on investments and capital assets (4,942)               (500)                  (5,442)               
        Capital gifts allocated 1,866,829          1,866,829         
        Auxiliary enterprises - sales and services 28,472,926                                                    28,472,926       

111,099,328      15,954,455        127,053,783     
        Net assets released from restrictions (Notes 1 and 3) 14,449,008        (14,449,008)                                                  
                Total Operating Revenues, Gains and Other Support 125,548,336      1,505,447                                127,053,783     

OPERATING EXPENSES
    Program expenses
        Instruction 50,833,644 50,833,644       
        Research 1,880,352   1,880,352         
        Public service 557,105  557,105            
        Academic support 12,698,434  12,698,434       
        Student services 17,152,493  17,152,493       
        Auxiliary enterprises 19,620,801 19,620,801       
    Support expenses        
        Institutional support 10,322,974 10,322,974       
        Fundraising 4,392,005                                                      4,392,005         
               Total Operating Expenses (Note 16) 117,457,808                                                  117,457,808     

            Change in Net Assets from Operating Activities 8,090,528          1,505,447                                9,595,975         

NONOPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Long-term investment activities
        Investment income 675,914 1,956,897 47,178$             2,679,989         
        Net gains on investments 3,512,831          10,184,869        245,455             13,943,155       
            Total long-term investment income 4,188,745          12,141,766        292,633             16,623,144       
        Less:  Long-term investment income and gains allocated for operations  (5,058,968)         (8,964,914)                               (14,023,882)      

(870,223)            3,176,852          292,633             2,599,262         
    Student loan income net of expenses (8,345)               49,296               40,951              
    Capital giving activities - gifts and grants 503,167             231                    9,574,337          10,077,735       
    Deferred giving activities - gifts 399,614             70,685               470,299            
    Capital gifts allocated to operations (1,866,829)         (1,866,829)        
    Interest rate swap loss, net of settlements (67,117)              (67,117)             
    Adjustment to actuarial liability for annuities payable (218,623)            27,225               25,729               (165,669)           
    Adjustment to prior service cost and actuarial liability for retiree health plan  (103,324)                                                        (103,324)           

(364,851)            1,337,479          10,012,680        10,985,308       
    Reclassification of prior year net assets (4,402,601)         5,473,396          (1,070,795)                              

            Change in Net Assets from Nonoperating Activities (4,767,452)         6,810,875          8,941,885          10,985,308       

                Change in Net Assets 3,323,076          8,316,322          8,941,885          20,581,283       
    

Net Assets - Beginning of Year 266,741,950      166,523,611      180,343,344      613,608,905     
 

    NET ASSETS - END OF YEAR 270,065,026$    174,839,933$    189,285,229$    634,190,188$   
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2016 2015
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
    Change in net assets (11,437,247)$       20,581,283$      
    Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to net cash flows
        from operating activities
            Depreciation, amortization and accretion expense 11,980,783           12,224,935        
            Net (gains) losses on investments  15,263,264           (14,501,374)      
            Change in interest rate exchange liability (188,164)           
            Loss from early extinguishment of debt 1,404,071             
            (Gain) loss on dispositions of property, plant and equipment (13,710)                9,684                 
            Actuarial adjustment of annuities payable (28,504)                1,540,994          
            Adjustment to prior service cost and actuarial liability for retiree health plan (87,671)                103,324             
            Gifts of property, plant and equipment (896,627)              (309,675)           
            Change in:
                Accounts receivable (508,368)              (399,704)           
                Contributions receivable for operations 1,183,548             (939,758)           
                Other assets 232,382                730,681             
                Funds held in trust by others 135,877                3,759                 
            Change in:
                Accounts payable (561,733)              816,724             
                Accrued and other liabilities 374,524                (226,147)           
                Deferred revenue (252,399)              (69,153)             
                Change in deposits held in trust for others (1,273,992)           178,621             
            Gifts and grants received for long-term investment and plant, net (15,156,898)         (10,548,034)      
            Nonoperating investment income (2,007,110)           (2,679,989)        
                Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities (1,649,810)           6,328,007          

CASH FLOWS USED BY INVESTING ACTIVITIES
    Purchases of property, plant and equipment (19,757,278)         (12,532,170)      

     Purchases of investments (39,876,837)         (117,823,913)    
    Proceeds from sales of investments   35,602,183           117,127,621      
    Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 115,900                162,000             
    Nonoperating investment income 2,007,110             2,679,989          
    Disbursements of loans to students (1,043,773)           (1,090,792)        
    Repayments of loans by students 1,142,892             1,468,379          
                Net Cash Flows Used by Investing Activities (21,809,803)         (10,008,886)      

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
    Principal repayments of indebtedness (1,765,000)           (2,620,000)        
    Bond financing costs (25,745)             

     Gifts and grants received for long-term investment and plant, net 15,156,898           10,548,034        
     Change in nonoperating contributions receivable (827,872)              (1,793,379)        
    Change in U.S. government grants refundable, net (752,580)              (50,484)             

     Increase in annuities payable from new gifts 90,012                  470,299             
    Payments to annuitants (1,560,587)           (1,636,061)        
    Change in trustee account for refinanced bonds, net 5,389,810             2,596                 
                Net Cash Flows from Financing Activities 15,730,681           4,895,260          

                    Net Change in Cash and Cash Equivalents (7,728,932)           1,214,381          

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Beginning of Year 22,125,790           20,911,409        

    CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR 14,396,858$         22,125,790$      

ST. OLAF COLLEGE

STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
For the Years Ended May 31, 2016 and 2015
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Organization - Founded in 1874, St. Olaf College (the “College”) is a private, four year, residential, liberal arts 
college located in Northfield, Minnesota. Affiliated with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in America, the College 
is coeducational and enrolls approximately 3,000 students. The College confers the degrees of Bachelor of Arts 
and Bachelor of Music.  
 
Basis of Financial Statements - The accounting policies of the College reflect practices common to 
universities and colleges and the financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America. The more significant accounting policies are summarized 
below: 
 

Net Asset Classifications - For the purposes of financial reporting, the College classifies resources into 
three net asset categories pursuant to any donor-imposed restrictions and applicable law.  Accordingly, 
the net assets of the College are classified in the accompanying financial statements in the categories 
that follow: 

 
Unrestricted Net Assets - Net assets that are not subject to donor-imposed restrictions. (See 

Note 2) 
 

Temporarily Restricted Net Assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions that will be 
met by action of the College and/or the passage of time. (See Note 2) 

 
Permanently Restricted Net Assets - Net assets subject to donor-imposed restrictions that the 

assets be maintained permanently by the College. Generally, the donors of these assets permit 
the College to use all or part of the income earned on related investments for general or specific 
purposes. (See Note 2) 

 
Releases from Restrictions - Expirations of temporary restrictions on net assets (i.e., the donor-imposed 

purpose has been fulfilled and/or the stipulated time period has elapsed) are reported on the statement 
of activities as net assets released from restrictions. (See Note 3) Occasionally donor restrictions 
related to net assets may be clarified or changed, at which time they are reflected as a reclassification 
of prior year net assets on the statement of activities.  

 
Revenue Recognition - The timing and classification of revenue are summarized below: 

 
Tuition and Fees and Auxiliary Revenue - Revenues from tuition and auxiliary enterprises are 

recognized in the period the goods or services are provided as increases in unrestricted net 
assets. Financial assistance in the form of scholarships and grants that cover a portion of tuition, 
living and other costs is reflected as a reduction of tuition and fees revenues. 

 



ST. OLAF COLLEGE 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
As of and for the Years Ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Contribution Revenue - Contributions are recognized as revenues when the donor’s commitments 
are received, as increases in unrestricted net assets unless their use is limited by donor-imposed 
restrictions or time. Conditional promises to give are not recognized until they become 
unconditional, that is, when the conditions on which they depend are substantially met. During the 
year ended May 31, 2016, the College received a conditional promise to give up to $15,000,000  to 
create an endowment to support a new program. The contribution is conditional upon the amount 
of other donations received for the program through 2025. There were no conditional promises to 
give at May 31, 2015. 

 
Gifts of assets other than cash are recorded at their estimated fair value at the date of gift. 

 
Contributions received with donor-imposed restrictions that are met in the same year as received 
are reported as revenues of the temporarily restricted net asset class, and a release to unrestricted 
net assets is made to reflect the expiration of such restrictions.  

 
The College reports unrestricted contributions of depreciable assets, or of cash and other assets to 
be used to acquire them, as temporarily restricted revenue. The restriction on the related 
temporarily restricted net asset is released over the estimated useful lives of the assets using the 
College’s depreciation policies. 

 
Investment Gains and Losses - Gains and losses on investments and other assets or liabilities are 

reported as increases or decreases in unrestricted net assets unless their use is restricted by 
explicit donor stipulation or by law. 

 
Income and net gains on investments of endowment and similar funds are reported in the 
statement of activities as follows: 

 
> as increases in unrestricted net assets for board-designated endowment funds and to restore 

donor-restricted endowment funds with deficiencies; 
 
> as increases in permanently restricted net assets if the terms of the gift that gave rise to the 

investment require that they be added to the principal of a permanent endowment fund; 
 
> as increases in temporarily restricted net assets in all other cases. 

 
Losses from investments on donor-restricted endowment funds are reported as decreases in 
permanently or temporarily restricted net assets to the extent of the prior accumulated earnings of 
each individual endowment fund, with the remainder reflected as reductions to unrestricted net 
assets. Losses from investments on board designated endowment funds are reported as 
decreases in unrestricted net assets. 

 
Cash and Cash Equivalents - The College considers all highly liquid investments, except for those held 

for long-term investment, with a maturity of three months or less when purchased to be cash 
equivalents. Certain cash held by the College is restricted for the Perkins Loan Fund. 

 
Receivables - Accounts and loans receivable are carried at cost, less an allowance for doubtful accounts.  

(See Notes 4 and 6) 
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
As of and for the Years Ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

Investments - Investments in publicly traded securities are stated at quoted market value. Other 
investments, for which no such quoted market values or valuations are readily available, are carried at 
fair value as estimated by management using values provided by external investment managers. 
Changes in fair value are recorded as unrealized gains or losses in the period of change. (See Note 7) 

 
Other Assets - Prepaid expenses and inventories are included in other assets. Inventories are valued at 

the lower of cost or market, with the exception of bookstore inventories, which are valued at a 
percentage of retail value that approximates cost and is not in excess of market.  

 
Deposits Held by Trustee - Cash, short-term investments and government securities held by the trustee 

include amounts restricted for debt service as required by the related trust indentures. In 2016, the 
amount also includes unspent bond proceeds to be used for construction projects. 

 
Beneficial Interest in Trusts Held by Others - The beneficial interest in trusts held by others and related 

contribution revenue are recognized at the date the trusts are established for the present value of 
estimated future payments to be received.  Fair market value is not readily determinable for certain 
farmland held in trust by others in the deferred gift pool, and as such is held at cost value of $491,350 at 
both May 31, 2016 and 2015. 

 
Property, Plant and Equipment - Physical plant assets are stated at cost at the date of acquisition or 

market value if donated, less accumulated depreciation. The College typically depreciates its assets on 
the straight-line basis over estimated useful lives ranging from 15 to 50 years for buildings and 
improvements and 5 to 15 years for furnishings, library materials and equipment. The College has 
developed a schedule of the estimated funding required for significant repairs and maintenance of its 
facilities based on a forty-year life cycle. Normal repair and maintenance expenses are charged to 
operations as incurred. Certain property and equipment purchased with government grant funds are 
subject to certain requirements and limitations. Generally, the College capitalizes physical plant 
additions and equipment in excess of $5,000. (See Note 9)   

 
Deferred Revenue - Certain revenue related to summer and fall courses and programs is deferred and 

recognized as revenue in the same period expenses are recognized. Students are generally billed for 
courses and programs prior to the start of the course or program. 

 
Annuities Payable - Annuities payable represent the College’s liability under annuity contracts with 

donors and irrevocable charitable remainder trusts for which the College serves as the trustee. Assets 
held under these agreements are included in investments. (See Note 17) 

 
Interest Rate Exchange Liability - The College used an interest rate exchange agreement as part of its 

risk management strategy to manage exposure to fluctuations in interest rates and to manage the 
overall cost of its debt. The interest rate exchange agreement was not entered into for trading or 
speculative purposes. All derivatives, including those embedded in other contracts as well as interest 
rate exchange transactions, are recognized as either assets or liabilities and are measured at fair value. 
Gains or losses resulting from changes in the fair values of the interest rate exchange transactions are 
reflected in the statements of activities as an increase or decrease to unrestricted net assets. The 
interest rate exchange liability was terminated in fiscal 2016. (See Note 18) 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
U.S. Government Grants Refundable - Funds provided by the United States Government under the 

Federal Perkins Loan Program are loaned to qualified students and may be reloaned after collections. 
These funds are ultimately refundable to the government and are included as liabilities on the 
statements of financial position. Revenues from other government grants are recognized as they are 
earned in accordance with the agreement. Any funding received before it is earned is recorded as a 
refundable advance. Expenses incurred before cash is received are shown as a reduction in the 
government grants refundable liability on the statement of financial position. 

 
Deposits Held in Trust for Others - The College acts as trustee for funds transferred from various 

organizations for investment management and administrative purposes. The funds are to be distributed 
back to these organizations as they request them. The College recognizes the funds as a liability in the 
accompanying statement of financial position.  

 
Advertising Expenses - Advertising costs are expensed when incurred. 
 
Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 

generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.  

 
Income Tax Status - The Internal Revenue Service has determined that the College is exempt from 

federal income tax under Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. The College is also exempt 
from state income taxes. However, any unrelated business income may be subject to taxation.  

 
 The College follows the accounting standards for contingencies in evaluating uncertain tax positions. 

This guidance prescribes recognition threshold principles for the financial statement recognition of tax 
positions taken or expected to be taken on a tax return that are not certain to be realized. No liability 
has been recognized by the College for uncertain tax positions as of May 31, 2016 and 2015. The 
College’s tax returns are subject to review and examination by federal and state authorities.  

 
New Pronouncements - In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued 

Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This new 
accounting guidance outlines a single comprehensive model for entities to use in accounting for 
revenue from contracts with customers. ASU No. 2014-09 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2017. Early application is permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016. 
The College is assessing the impact this new standard will have on its financial statements. 

 
 In April 2015, FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest- Imputation of interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying 

the Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs. Under the new guidance, debt issuance costs related to a 
recognized debt liability are presented as a direct reduction to the carrying amount of that debt liability. 
ASU 2015-03 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2015, with early adoption 
permitted. The College elected to adopt the guidance in fiscal 2016. ASU 2015-03 is to be applied 
retrospectively, and as a result, the guidance was retrospectively applied to fiscal 2015. The adoption of 
the standard did not have a significant impact on the College’s statement of financial position or results 
of operations. 
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NOTE 1 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

New Pronouncements (continued) - In May 2015, FASB issued ASU 2015-07, Disclosures for 
Investments in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share (or Its Equivalent). Under the 
new guidance, investments measured at net asset value, as a practical expedient for fair value, are 
excluded from the fair value hierarchy disclosure requirements. ASU 2015-07 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2016 with early application permitted. The College elected to adopt the 
guidance in fiscal 2016. ASU 2015-07 is to be applied retrospectively, and as a result, the guidance was 
retrospectively applied to fiscal 2015. The adoption of the standard did not have a significant impact on 
the College’s statement of financial position or results of operations. 

 
 In January 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-01, Financial Instruments - Overall (Subtopic 825-10): 

Recognition and Measurement of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities. This new guidance is 
intended to improve the recognition and measurement of financial instruments and eliminates the 
requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at amortized cost for entities 
that are not public business entities. ASU 2016-01 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2018, with early adoption permitted for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2017. However, 
the new guidance permits entities that are not public business entities to adopt upon issuance the 
provision that eliminates the requirement to disclose the fair value of financial instruments measured at 
amortized cost. The College elected to adopt this provision in fiscal 2016. ASU 2016-01 is to be applied 
by means of a cumulative-effect adjustment to the statement of financial position as of the beginning of 
the fiscal year of adoption. The amendments related to equity securities without readily determinable 
fair values (including disclosure requirements) should be applied prospectively to equity investments 
that exist as of the date of adoption of ASU 2016-01. The College is assessing the impact the remainder 
of this standard will have on its financial statements. 

 
 In February 2016, FASB issued ASU No. 2016-02, Leases. ASU No. 2016-02 was issued to increase 

transparency and comparability among entities. Lessees will need to recognize nearly all lease 
transactions (other than leases that meet the definition of a short-term lease) on the statement of 
financial position as a lease liability and a right-of-use asset (as defined). Lessor accounting under the 
new guidance will be similar to the current model. ASU No. 2016-02 is effective for fiscal years 
beginning after December 15, 2018. Early application is permitted. Upon adoption, lessees and lessors 
will be required to recognize and measure leases at the beginning of the earliest period presented using 
a modified retrospective approach, which includes a number of optional practical expedients that 
entities may elect to apply. The College is assessing the impact this standard will have on its financial 
statements. 

 
 In August 2016, FASB issued ASU 2016-14, Not-for-Profit Entities (Topic 958): Presentation of 

Financial Statements of Not-for-Profit Entities. The new guidance improves and simplifies the current 
net asset classification requirements and information presented in financial statements and notes that is 
useful in assessing a not-for-profit’s liquidity, financial performance and cash flows. In addition, the ASU 
will no longer allow entities to imply a time restriction on contributions restricted by donors to acquire 
long-lived assets, including gifts of cash restricted for those acquisitions. Instead, the restrictions will 
expire when the long-lived assets are placed in service. The College currently implies a time restriction 
on such contributions, and at May 31, 2016, has included approximately $50 million of such 
contributions in temporarily restricted net assets that will be reclassified to unrestricted net assets upon 
implementation of the new standard. ASU 2016-14 is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 
15, 2017, with early adoption permitted. ASU 2016-14 is to be applied retroactively with transition 
provisions. The College is assessing the impact this standard will have on its financial statements. 

 
Reclassifications - Certain amounts appearing in the 2015 financial statements have been reclassified to 

conform with the 2016 presentation. The reclassifications have no effect on the reported amounts of 
total net assets or change in total net assets. 
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NOTE 2 - RESTRICTIONS AND LIMITATIONS ON NET ASSET BALANCES 
 
At May 31, 2016 and 2015, the College's unrestricted net assets were allocated as follows: 
 

 2016  2015  
     
Operations $ 92,141,213   $ 92,511,659  
Endowment funds:      

Donor restricted endowment funds (underwater)  (1,137,457 )  (56,094 ) 
Board designated endowment  168,642,452   172,852,216  

Total endowment funds  167,504,995   172,796,122  
Deferred gifts  3,570,897   3,765,434  
Student loan programs - matching federal government  878,487   991,811  
     

 $ 264,095,592  $ 270,065,026  
 
Temporarily restricted net assets consist of the following at May 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

Gifts and other unexpended revenues and gains available for:     
Scholarships, instruction and other support $ 8,199,185  $ 7,320,032       
Unamortized plant gifts  50,494,605   51,871,083     
Acquisition of buildings and equipment  1,678,561   2,062,871     

  60,372,351   61,253,986    
Endowment funds:       

Endowment funds temporarily restricted by donor  19,458,243   17,530,360    
Earnings not yet appropriated for spending  75,301,753   94,241,481     

Total endowment funds  94,759,996   111,771,841    
Deferred gifts   1,249,306   1,814,106    

     
 $ 156,381,653  $ 174,839,933      

 
Permanently restricted net assets consist of the following at May 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

Endowment funds $ 185,436,148  $ 170,938,511      
Deferred gifts  14,204,219   15,802,583     
Student loan funds  2,635,329   2,544,135     

     
 $ 202,275,696  $ 189,285,229       

 
Total net assets consist of the following at May 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

Operations $ 152,513,564  $ 153,765,645        
Endowment funds (Note 8)  447,701,139   455,506,474     
Deferred gifts (Note 17)  19,024,422   21,382,123     
Student loan funds  3,513,816   3,535,946     

     
 $ 622,752,941  $ 634,190,188       
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NOTE 3 - NET ASSETS RELEASED FROM RESTRICTIONS 
 
Net assets were released to unrestricted operating net assets from temporary donor restrictions by incurring 
expenses satisfying the restricted purposes or by occurrence of events specified by the donors as follows for 
the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015:  
 
 2016  2015  
     

Amortization of contributions expended for long-lived assets $ 1,870,851  $ 1,866,829  
Scholarships, instruction and other departmental support  13,709,427   12,582,179  
     
 $ 15,580,278  $ 14,449,008  

 
 
NOTE 4 - ACCOUNTS  RECEIVABLE 
 
Accounts receivable, and the related allowance for doubtful accounts, was as follows at May 31, 2016 and 
2015: 
 
 2016  2015 
 Receivable  Allowance  Net  Receivable  Allowance  Net 
            

Student accounts $ 461,775  $ 200,000  $ 261,775  $ 393,924  $ 175,000  $ 218,924 
Other accounts  2,583,915   684,479   1,899,436   2,080,799   646,880   1,433,919 
            
Total accounts 

receivable 
 
$ 3,045,690 

  
$ 884,479 

  
$ 2,161,211 

  
$ 2,474,723 

  
$ 821,880 

  
$ 1,652,843 

 
An allowance for doubtful accounts is recorded annually based on historical experience and management’s 
evaluation of receivables at the end of each year. Bad debts are written-off when deemed uncollectible. 
Receivables are generally unsecured.  
 
 
NOTE 5 - CONTRIBUTIONS RECEIVABLE 
 
Contributions receivable include the following unconditional promises to give at May 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

 2016  2015  
Unconditional promises expected to be collected in:     

Less than one year $ 4,428,405  $ 4,912,877  
One to five years   5,567,057   5,142,189  
Over five years  1,502,800   1,513,940  

  Gross unconditional promises to give  11,498,262   11,569,006  
 Less: Unamortized discount  (274,843 )  (323,861 ) 
    Allowance for uncollectible promises  (2,324,928 )  (1,990,979 ) 
     
 $ 8,898,491  $ 9,254,166  

 
Contributions receivable due within one year are not discounted. Contributions receivable expected to be 
collected in more than one year have been discounted using historic rates, ranging from 1.00% to 6.00%. As of 
May 31, 2016, net contributions receivable consisted of $8,104,707 for endowments and $793,784 for 
operations. As of May 31, 2015, net contributions receivable consisted of $12,302 for plant projects, $7,264,532 
for endowments and $1,977,332 for operations. 
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NOTE 6 - CREDIT QUALITY OF STUDENT LOANS RECEIVABLE 
 
The College issues uncollateralized loans to students based on financial need. Loans to students are funded 
through Federal government loan programs or institutional resources. Allowances for doubtful accounts are 
established based on prior collection experience and current economic factors which, in management’s 
judgment, could influence the ability of loan recipients to repay the amounts per the loan terms.  Interest income 
on student loan receivables is recognized when received, and fees and costs are recognized when incurred.  
Government student loan program receivables (Perkins) that become uncollectible can be assigned to the 
federal government. At May 31, 2016 and 2015, student loans receivable represented 0.85% and 0.87% of total 
assets, respectively. 
 
At May 31, 2016 and 2015 student loans receivable consisted of the following: 
 

 2016  2015  
     
Federal government programs $ 5,785,584  $ 5,990,040  
Institutional programs  1,328,024   1,222,687  

  7,113,608   7,212,727  
Less allowance for doubtful accounts:     

Beginning of year  (661,800 )  (661,800 ) 
Decreases (increases) to allowance  (883 )  (32,580 ) 
Write-off recoveries  (28,769 )  (2,082 ) 
Write-offs   29,652   34,662  

End of year  (661,800 )  (661,800 ) 
     
Student loans receivable, net $ 6,451,808  $ 6,550,927  

 
Funds advanced by the Federal government of $5,622,289 and $6,341,401 at May 31, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively, are ultimately refundable to the government and are classified as liabilities in the statement of 
financial position. These amounts are partially offset by related receivables from the Federal government. 
 
At May 31, 2016 and 2015, the past due and current amounts under student loan programs were as follows: 
 

 2016  2015  
     
Past due student loans receivable:      

0 - 240 days past due $ 171,722  $ 189,971  
240 days - 2 years past due  96,384   70,194  
2 - 5 years past due  84,304   181,065  
5+ years past due  206,895   222,821  

Total past due  559,305   664,051  
Current student loans receivable  6,554,303   6,548,676  
     
Total student loans receivable, gross $ 7,113,608  $ 7,212,727  
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NOTE 7 - INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE  MEASUREMENTS 
 
Fair Value Hierarchy - Fair value is defined in the accounting guidance as the exchange price that would be 

received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous 
market for the assets or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement 
date. Under this guidance, a three-level hierarchy is used for fair value measurements which are based on 
the transparency of information, such as the pricing source, used in the valuation of an asset or liability as of 
the measurement date.  

 
Financial instruments measured and reported at fair value are classified and disclosed in one of the following 
three categories.  

 
Level 1 - Inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 

reporting entity can access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly or indirectly. This includes quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active 
markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, 
inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability, or market-corroborated 
inputs. 

 
Level 3 - Inputs are unobservable for the asset or liability. Unobservable inputs reflect the assumptions that 

market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability (including assumptions about risk) 
using the best information available in the circumstances, which may include using the reporting 
entity’s own data. 

 
Valuation Techniques and Inputs 
 

Level 1 - Level 1 assets include: 
 

> Investments in cash and short-term investments (consisting primarily of money market funds), 
mutual funds, stocks, bonds, and deposits held by trustee for which quoted prices are readily 
available. 

 
Level 2 - Level 2 assets include: 

 
> Investments in treasury inflation-protected securities for which quoted prices are not readily 

available. The fair values are estimated using Level 2 inputs based on multiple sources of 
information, which may include market data and/or quoted market prices from either markets 
that are not active or are for the same or similar assets in active markets.  

 
 Level 2 liabilities include: 

 
> Interest rate exchange liability for which a quoted price is not readily available. The fair value is 

estimated using an income approach by calculating the present value of the estimated future 
cash flows and credit valuation adjustments which are based on observable inputs to a 
valuation model (interest rates, credit spreads, etc.). 
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NOTE 7 - INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
Level 3 - Level 3 assets include: 

 
> Investments in real estate for which fair value is based on inputs such as cost, appraisals, and 

the county assessed value.  
 

> Other investments which represent ownership interests in insurance contracts. The fair value 
has been estimated based on information provided by the insurance companies. 

 
> Beneficial interest in trusts held by others for which quoted prices are not readily available. The 

fair values are estimated using an income approach by calculating the present value of the 
future distributions expected to be received based on a combination of Level 2 inputs (interest 
rates and yield curves) and significant unobservable inputs (entity specific estimates of cash 
flows). 

 
Certain mutual funds and alternative investments are measured at fair value using the net asset value (NAV) 
per share (or its equivalent) of such investment funds as a practical expedient for fair value. The College has 
estimated the fair value of these funds by using the net asset value provided by the investee. The College 
adopted ASU 2015-07, Disclosures for Investment in Certain Entities That Calculate Net Asset Value per Share 
(or Its Equivalent), during the year ended May 31, 2016. Under the new guidance, investments measured using 
the net asset value per share (or its equivalent) practical expedient are not classified in the fair value hierarchy. 
 
A financial instrument’s categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that 
is significant to the fair value measurement. 
 
Except for the implementation of ASU 2015-7, there have been no changes in the techniques and inputs used 
as of May 31, 2016 and 2015.  
 
While the College believes its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, 
the use of different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments 
could result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting date. 
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NOTE 7 - INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE  MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 

The following tables present information about the College’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis as of May 31, 2016: 
 
 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

ASSETS         
Investments         

Cash and short-term investments $ 2,164,899  $ 2,164,899      
Marketable securities         

Mutual funds         
Fixed income - domestic  31,926,656   31,926,656      
Fixed income - international  1,142,546   1,142,546      
Fixed income - global  8,068,748   8,068,748      
Equity funds - domestic  57,866,547   57,866,547      
Equity funds - international  56,734,802   56,734,802      
Real asset funds  17,476,683   17,476,683      

Stocks  26,093,221   26,093,221      
Bonds  535,384   535,384      

Treasury inflation-protected 
securities (TIPS)  8,396,520    $ 8,396,520   

 

Real estate  2,322,049      $ 2,322,049  
Other investments  1,755,668       1,755,668  

Subtotal investments  214,483,723   202,009,486   8,396,520   4,077,717  
Deposits held by trustee  23,041,178   23,041,178      
Beneficial interest in trusts held 

by others  1,582,470       1,582,470 
 

         
Subtotal by valuation hierarchy  239,107,371  $ 225,050,664  $ 8,396,520  $ 5,660,187  

         
Investments measured using NAV         

Hedge funds  85,648,453        
Private equity funds  54,338,604        
Global equity funds  54,673,776        
Global bond bonds  21,866,715        
Real estate funds  20,643,201        
Commodity funds  19,588,849        

         
Subtotal investments by NAV  256,759,598        

         
Total assets at fair value $ 495,866,969        

         
Investments by valuation hierarchy $ 214,483,723        
Investments by NAV 256,759,598        
         

Total investments $ 471,243,321        
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NOTE 7 - INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE  MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The following tables present information about the College’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a 
recurring basis as of May 31, 2015: 
 
 Total  Level 1  Level 2  Level 3  

ASSETS         
Investments         

Cash and short-term investments $ 2,151,766  $ 2,151,766        
Marketable securities         

Mutual funds         
Fixed income - domestic  32,445,561   32,445,561      
Fixed income - international  1,316,098   1,316,098      
Fixed income - global  8,598,791   8,598,791      
Equity funds - domestic  54,824,080   54,824,080      
Equity funds - international  63,799,432   63,799,432      
Real asset funds  17,514,833   17,514,833      

Stocks  27,057,430   27,057,430      
Bonds  799,134   799,134      

Treasury inflation-protected 
securities (TIPS)  8,294,803    $ 8,294,803   

 

Real estate  2,440,153      $ 2,440,153  
Other investments  1,767,041       1,767,041  

Subtotal investments  221,009,122   208,507,125   8,294,803   4,207,194  
Deposits held by trustee  5,747,970   5,747,970       
Beneficial interest in trusts held 

by others 
 
 1,718,347      

 
 1,718,347 

 

         
Subtotal by valuation hierarchy  228,475,439  $ 214,255,095  $ 8,294,803  $ 5,925,541  

         
Investments measured using NAV         

Hedge funds  93,315,524        
Private equity funds  55,740,233        
Global equity funds  54,040,438        
Global bond bonds  21,602,168        
Real estate funds  17,938,032        
Commodity funds  18,726,551        

         
Subtotal investments by NAV  261,362,946        

         
Total assets at fair value $ 489,838,385        

         
LIABILITIES         

Interest rate exchange liability $ 608,920  $ -  $ 608,920  $ -  
         

Investments by valuation hierarchy $ 221,009,122        
Investments by NAV 261,362,946        
         

Total investments $ 482,372,068        
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NOTE 7 - INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE  MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The following table presents a reconciliation of the statement of financial position amounts for assets measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended May 31, 
2016: 
 
 

 
Balances 
May 31, 

2015  

Net realized 
and 

unrealized 
gains (losses)  Purchases  

 
Sales  

Net transfers  
in (out) of 
Level 3  

 
Balances 
May 31, 

2016 

 

Assets             
Real estate $ 2,440,153   $ 75,533  $ 398,000  $ (451,500 ) $ (140,137 ) $ 2,322,049  
Other investments  1,767,041   (11,373 )               1,755,668  
Beneficial interest in   

trusts held by others  1,718,347 
 

 (113,918 
 
)  

 
 (21,959 

 
)  

 
 1,582,470 

 

             
Total $ 5,925,541  $ (49,758 ) $ 398,000  $ (473,459 ) $ (140,137 ) $ 5,660,187  

 
The amount of total gains (losses) for the period included in change in net assets 

attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets measured at 
fair value still held at May 31, 2016. 

 

$ (49,758 ) 
 
Transfers out includes an investment in real estate which has transferred from investments to the College’s physical plant 
during fiscal 2016. The transfer amount is based on the fair value as of the date of the event or change in circumstances 
that caused the transfer. 
 
The following table presents a reconciliation of the statement of financial position amounts for assets measured 
at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended May 31, 
2015: 
 
 

 
Balances 
May 31, 

2014  

Net realized 
and 

unrealized 
gains (losses)  Purchases  

 
Sales  

Net transfers  
in (out) of 
Level 3  

 
Balances 
May 31, 

2015 

 

Assets             
Real estate $ 2,176,761   $ (78,000   ) $ 444,900    $ (103,508  )   $ 2,440,153    
Other investments  1,792,246   (25,205 )               1,767,041   
Beneficial interest in   

trusts held by others  1,722,106  
 

 29,190  
    

 
 

 (32,949  
 
)  

 
 1,718,347   

 

             
Total $ 5,691,113  $ (74,015   ) $ 444,900   $ (136,457   ) $ -  $ 5,925,541   

 
The amount of total gains (losses) for the period included in change in net assets 

attributable to the change in unrealized gains or losses relating to assets measured at 
fair value still held at May 31, 2015. 

 

$ (74,015 ) 
 
Investment income and gains (losses) on the alternative investments totaled $(3,101,179) and $11,326,422 for 
the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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NOTE 7 - INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE  MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED) 
 
The College uses the NAV as a practical expedient to determine fair value of all underlying investments which 
(a) do not have a readily determinable fair value; and (b) prepare their financial statements consistent with the 
measurement principles of an investment company or have the attributes of an investment company.  
 
The following table lists the alternative investments in which NAV was utilized as the practical expedient for 
estimating fair value by major category as of May 31, 2016: 
 

 
Investment Type 

 Unfunded 
Commitments 

 
Fair Value 

 Redemption 
Frequency 

 Redemption 
Notice Period 

 Estimated 
Remaining Life  

 

            

Alternative Investments            

Hedge funds (a)    $ 85,648,453  Monthly to annual  30-180 days  N/A (a)  

Private equity funds (b)  $ 40,626,000   54,338,604  Not redeemable  N/A  1-15 years  

Global equity funds (c)     54,673,776  10-45 days  10-45 days  N/A  

Global bond funds (d)     21,866,715  Daily or Monthly  10 days  N/A  

Real estate funds (e)   10,579,000   20,643,201  None  N/A  3-15 years  

Commodity funds (f)   16,759,000   19,588,849  Not redeemable  N/A  6-15 years  
            

Total    $ 256,759,598        
 

(a) Comprised of various hedge funds which primarily focus on absolute return, security selection, and 
hedging.  A portion of the investments in this category cannot be redeemed currently because the 
investments include restrictions that do not allow for redemption in the first 12 to 36 months after 
acquisition. 

 
(b) Comprised of various private equity funds with a broad range of investment objectives which include 

diversified fund of funds focused on venture, buyout, and special situations, as well as smaller direct 
funds that have more specific niche strategies. These investments are generally not redeemable. 
Instead, distributions are received through the liquidation of the underlying assets of the fund. 

 
(c) Comprised of three limited partnership investments both holding long-only domestic and international 

equities. 
 
(d) Comprised of two limited partnership investments at the statement of financial position date; the 

funds invest in international long-only fixed income securities. 
 
(e) Includes funds having diversified investment objectives ranging from fund of funds that focus on 

domestic commercial properties to direct open-ended real estate investment trusts (REITs). The 
REITs have quarterly liquidity with 45 or 60 days notice. The other investments cannot be redeemed, 
but distributions from each fund will be received as the underlying investments in the funds are 
liquidated. 

 
(f) Includes fund of funds investments that focus on natural resources and/or energy.  
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NOTE 8 - ENDOWMENT  
 
The College’s endowment consists of approximately 1,600 individual funds established for a variety of 
purposes. The endowment includes both donor-restricted endowment funds and funds designated by the Board 
of Regents to function as endowments. As required by U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, net 
assets associated with endowment funds, including funds designated by the Board of Regents as endowments, 
are classified and reported based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
Interpretation of Relevant Law - The College’s Board of Regents has interpreted the Minnesota enacted 

version of the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act (UPMIFA) as allowing the College to 
appropriate for expenditure or accumulate so much of an endowment fund as the College determines is 
prudent for the uses, benefits, purposes and duration for which the endowment fund is established, subject to 
the intent of the donor as expressed in the gift instrument. The College’s Board of Regents has determined it 
is prudent to preserve the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent 
explicit donor stipulations to the contrary. The College classifies as permanently restricted net assets (a) the 
original value of the gifts donated to the permanent endowment, (b) the original value of subsequent gifts to 
the permanent endowment, and (c) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with 
the direction of the applicable donor gift instrument at the time the accumulation is added to the fund. The 
remaining portion of a donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently restricted net 
assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are appropriated for expenditure 
by the College through the Board of Regent’s approval of the annual budget, which is inclusive of the 
spending rate for its endowment funds established pursuant to the College’s spending policy. See Note 1 for 
further information on net asset classifications. 

 
Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following as of May 31, 2016: 
 
  

Unrestricted 
 Temporarily 

Restricted 
 Permanently 

Restricted 
  

Total 
 

         
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ (1,137,457 ) $ 94,759,996  $ 185,436,148  $ 279,058,687  
Board-designated endowment funds  168,642,452        168,642,452  

         

Total endowment net assets $ 167,504,995  $ 94,759,996  $ 185,436,148  $ 447,701,139  
 
Endowment net asset composition by type of fund consists of the following as of May 31, 2015: 
 
  

Unrestricted 
 Temporarily 

Restricted 
 Permanently 

Restricted 
  

Total 
 

         
Donor-restricted endowment funds $ (56,094 ) $ 111,771,841     $ 170,938,511     $ 282,654,258     
Board-designated endowment funds  172,852,216        172,852,216     

         
Total endowment net assets $ 172,796,122  $ 111,771,841  $ 170,938,511  $ 455,506,474  

 



ST. OLAF COLLEGE 
 

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
As of and for the Years Ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 

 
 

Page 23 

NOTE 8 - ENDOWMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended May 31, 2016 are as follows: 
 
  

Unrestricted 
 Temporarily 

Restricted 
 Permanently 

Restricted 
  

Total 
 

         
Endowment net assets, May 31, 2015 $ 172,796,122    $ 111,771,841     $ 170,938,511    $ 455,506,474     
Total investment return  (4,945,559 )  (7,650,019 )  87,853   (12,507,725 ) 
Contributions  3,119,506   1,003,792   10,916,513   15,039,811  
Appropriation of endowment assets for:         

Operating expenditures  (5,637,449 )  (10,052,628 )       (15,690,077 ) 
Non-operating expenditures  (46,346 )      (16,804 )  (63,150 ) 

Other changes:         
Transfers  2,118,721   (863,990 )  2,911,624   4,166,355  
Matured deferred gifts  100,000   551,000   598,451   1,249,451  

         
Endowment net assets, May 31, 2016 $ 167,504,995  $ 94,759,996  $ 185,436,148  $ 447,701,139  

 
Changes in endowment net assets for the year ended May 31, 2015 are as follows: 
 
  

Unrestricted 
 Temporarily 

Restricted 
 Permanently 

Restricted 
  

Total 
 

         
Endowment net assets, May 31, 2014 $ 171,155,814   $ 103,164,641    $ 161,614,669    $ 435,935,124    
Total investment return  4,188,745      12,141,766      292,633    16,623,144     
Contributions  503,167    231     9,574,337   10,077,735  
Appropriation of endowment assets for:         

Operating expenditures  (5,058,968   )  (8,964,914  )       (14,023,882    ) 
Non-operating expenditures  (44,402   )      (16,105  )  (60,507  ) 

Other changes:         
Transfers  1,997,400    5,430,117   (1,070,795 )  6,356,722   
Matured deferred gifts  54,366         543,772     598,138     

         
Endowment net assets, May 31, 2015 $ 172,796,122    $ 111,771,841     $ 170,938,511    $ 455,506,474     

 
Funds with Deficiencies - From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted 

endowment funds may fall below the original value of the gifts contributed to each endowment fund. In 
accordance with GAAP, deficiencies of this nature that are reported in unrestricted net assets were 
$1,137,457 and $56,094 as of May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These deficiencies resulted from 
unfavorable market fluctuations that occurred after the investment of new permanently restricted 
contributions and continued appropriation for certain programs that was deemed prudent by the Board of 
Regents. Subsequent gains that restore the fair value of the assets of the endowment fund to the required 
level will be classified as an increase in unrestricted net assets. 
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NOTE 8 - ENDOWMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Return Objectives and Risk Parameters - The College has adopted investment and spending policies for 

endowment assets that strive to provide a source of income for spending that is reasonably stable and 
predictable from year-to-year, while seeking to preserve capital, maintain the purchasing power of the 
endowment assets, and prudently earn the highest possible rate of return consistent with the College’s ability 
to accommodate risk. Endowment assets include those assets of donor-restricted funds that the College 
must hold indefinitely or for a donor-specified period(s) as well as board-designated funds. Under this policy, 
as approved by the Board of Regents, the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to 
produce results that outperform the appropriate benchmark for each asset class and to outperform a simple 
benchmark of the broad market mix represented by a 70 percent S&P 500 and 30 percent Barclays 
Aggregate allocation. The College expects its endowment funds, over time, to provide an average real total 
return of 6 percent, net of fees. Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount. 

 
Strategies Employed for Achieving Objectives - To satisfy its long-term rate-of-return objectives, the College 

relies on a total return strategy in which investment returns are achieved through both capital appreciation 
(realized and unrealized) and current yield (interest and dividends). The College targets a diversified asset 
allocation including asset classes such as public equities, fixed income and alternative assets in order to 
achieve its long-term return objectives within prudent risk constraints. 

 
Spending Policy and How the Investment Objectives Relate to Spending Policy - The Board of Regents 

designates only a portion of the College's cumulative investment return for support of current operations; the 
remainder is retained to support operations of future years and to offset potential market declines.  In 
developing its spending policy, the College considers certain of the following factors which it determines 
relevant: 

 
   1. The duration and preservation of the fund 
   2. The purposes of the College and the donor-restricted endowment fund 
   3. General economic conditions 
   4. The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
   5. The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments 
   6. Other resources of the College 
   7. The investment policies of the College. 
 

The Board has adopted a policy to appropriate for distribution during each fiscal year an amount per 
endowment unit calculated at a rate of 4.7% of the average endowment market value per endowment unit 
from the preceding 16 quarters established as of the end of the calendar year prior to the beginning of the 
fiscal year. 
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NOTE 9 - PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
 
At May 31, 2016 and 2015, property, plant and equipment consisted of the following: 
 

 2016  2015  
     
Land $ 1,232,890  $ 1,232,890  
Improvements other than buildings  24,615,864   20,947,296  
Buildings   285,245,011   277,198,883  
Equipment  51,582,157   49,753,185  
Library materials  18,162,278   18,482,710  
Art collection  1,644,986   1,498,708  
Construction in progress  6,836,839   2,480,944  

  389,320,025   371,594,616  
Less: Accumulated depreciation  (153,918,355 )  (146,180,030 ) 

     
 $ 235,401,670  $ 225,414,586  
 
The majority of the costs of construction in progress as of May 31, 2016 were for Holland Hall renovations, 
totaling approximately $3,344,000; updates to media streaming capabilities, totaling approximately $864,000; 
and Larson Hall updates, totaling approximately $726,000. These projects are expected to be completed during 
fiscal 2017 and will be funded partially by operations and also by proceeds from the debt refinancing that is 
described in Note 14. 
 
 
NOTE 10 - ACCRUED AND OTHER LIABILITIES  
 
At May 31, 2016 and 2015, accrued and other liabilities consisted of the following: 
 
 2016  2015  
     

Payroll $ 9,003,853  $ 9,170,086  
Self-insurance reserve (Note 11)  455,000   342,000  
Post-retirement benefit obligations (Note 12)  2,274,825   2,602,392  
Interest  1,534,038   475,953  
Asset retirement obligations (Note 13)  1,974,313   2,256,011  
Other   118,698   114,631  

     
 $ 15,360,727  $ 14,961,073  
 
 
NOTE 11 - SELF-INSURANCE  
 
The College provides medical benefits through a self-insurance plan, which is available to all employees of the 
College who meet the eligibility requirements for certain medical expenses. Accrued and other liabilities include 
an incurred but not reported reserve of approximately $455,000 and $342,000 at May 31, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively, an estimate of amounts due and payable on existing claims for which the College is self-insured 
and which are expected to be settled currently. The College is self-insured for the first $225,000 per claim with 
an aggregate stop loss of approximately $8,226,000. As of May 31, 2016 and 2015, the College had 
unrestricted net assets of $702,152 and $1,645,710, respectively, designated for health insurance benefits, 
which consists of the cumulative amount that employee and college contributions towards health premiums 
have exceeded expenses over the life of the plan. 
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NOTE 12 - RETIREMENT PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 
 
The College has certain defined contribution retirement plans for employees. All employees are eligible to 
participate after meeting certain eligibility requirements. College contributions are based upon a percentage of 
salaries. The College’s contributions to the retirement plans approximated $3,858,000 and $3,771,000 for the 
years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
The College also provides postretirement health care benefits for current or retired employees and covered 
dependents, which are recorded on the accrual basis. Two voluntary employee benefit association (VEBA) 
trusts were established in fiscal year 2006. The Employee After-Tax-Contributions VEBA Trust (funded solely 
by employee after tax contributions) and the Employer Contribution VEBA Trust (funded solely by employer pre-
tax contributions) were established to provide employee welfare benefit plans providing certain insured and/or 
self-insured health and life benefits for eligible retired employees and their eligible spouses and dependents.  
The trusts are managed by a trustee, who invests in money market and mutual funds (Level 1 assets). The 
trusts are exempt from taxation to the extent permitted under section 501(c)(9) and 512 of the Internal Revenue 
Code of 1986.  
 
The following tables set forth the postretirement health care benefit plan’s status with amounts reported in the 
College’s financial statements at May 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

 2016  2015  
 
Change in benefit obligation 

    

Benefit obligation at beginning of year $ 10,892,971  $ 9,991,593  
Service cost  67,363   105,259  
Interest cost  355,642   335,314  
Plan participants’ VEBA contributions  12,715   4,914  
Employer VEBA contributions  836,877   877,079  
Actuarial loss  (1,197,091 )  225,067  
Benefits paid  (724,426 )  (646,255 ) 
Benefit obligation at end of year $ 10,244,051  $ 10,892,971  

 
Change in plan assets 

    

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year $ 8,290,579  $ 7,443,430  
Actual return on plan assets  (543,642 )  645,163  
Employer contributions  934,000   843,327  
Plan participants’ contributions  12,715   4,914  
Benefits paid  (724,426 )  (646,255 ) 
Fair value of plan assets at end of year $ 7,969,226  $ 8,290,579  

 
Funded status 

    

Funded status at end of year $ (2,274,825 ) $ (2,602,392 ) 
 
Amounts recognized in the statement of  

financial position consist of: 

    

Current liabilities $ (230,000 ) $ (267,000 ) 
Noncurrent liabilities  (2,044,825 )  (2,335,392 ) 
Net amount recognized (Note 10) $ (2,274,825 ) $ (2,602,392 ) 
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NOTE 12 - RETIREMENT PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 

 2016  2015  
     
Amounts recognized in change in net assets consist of:     

Prior service cost $ (284,846 ) $ (436,094  ) 
Loss  (176,353 )  62,566   
Accumulated change in net assets $ (461,199 ) $ (373,528  ) 

 
Weighted-average assumptions used to  determine benefit 

obligations at May 31 

    

Discount rate 3.25%  3.30%  
Expected return on plan assets 5.00%  5.00%  
Rate of compensation increase 0.00%  0.00%  

 
Components of net periodic benefit cost 

    

Service cost $ 67,363  $ 105,259   
Interest cost  355,642   335,314   
Expected return on plan assets  (414,529 )  (372,172  ) 
Amortization of prior service cost  (151,248 )   (151,248  ) 
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost $ (142,772 ) $ (82,847  ) 

 
Changes in net assets 

    

Net gain $ (238,920 ) $ (47,924  ) 
Amortization of prior service cost  151,248   151,248   
Total amount recognized in change in net assets $ (87,672 ) $ 103,324   
Total amount recognized in net periodic benefit cost and change 

in net assets 
 
$ (230,444 

 
) 

 
$ 20,477 

 
 

 
Weighted-average assumptions used to determine net periodic 

benefit cost as of June 1 

    

Discount rate 3.30%  3.40%  
Expected return on plan assets 5.00%  5.00%  
Rate of compensation increase 0.00%  0.00%  

 
Assumed health care cost trend rates at May 31 

    

Health care cost trend rate assumed for next year 8.00% - Post 65 
8.00% - Pre 65 

 5.89% - Post 65 
5.74% - Pre 65 

 

Rate to which the cost trend rate is assumed to decline (the ultimate 
trend) 

 
5.00% 

  
4.50% 

 

Year that the rate reaches the ultimate rate 2022  2030  
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NOTE 12 - RETIREMENT PLANS AND POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN (CONTINUED) 
 
During the year ending May 31, 2017, the College expects to contribute approximately $230,000 in benefit 
payments for the postretirement medical plan, which includes the liability for post-65 retiree VEBA and the 
present value of the projected future liability for the pre-65 retiree health plan. The College also expects to 
contribute approximately $690,000 to the VEBA for current employees during the year ending May 31, 2017. 
 
The following estimated benefit payments for the postretirement medical plan, which reflect expected future 
service, as appropriate, are expected to be paid during the years ending May 31: 
 

2017 $ 230,000 
2018  217,000  
2019  222,000 
2020  226,000 
2021  204,000 
2022 - 2026  780,000 

 
It is reasonably possible that changes in these estimates could occur in the near term and that actual results 
could differ from these estimates and could have a material impact on the financial statements. 
 
 
NOTE 13 - ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS 
 
The College owns certain buildings that contain encapsulated asbestos material and as such records a liability 
for the reasonably estimated fair value of the conditional asset retirement obligation.  
 
The following shows the activity in the College’s asset retirement obligation liability at May 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 
 2016  2015  
     

Balance at beginning of the year $ 2,256,011  $ 2,283,953  
Abatement costs  (515,872 )  (142,140 ) 
Accretion expense  112,801   114,198  
Adjustments to estimates  121,373     

     
Balance at end of the year (Note 10) $ 1,974,313  $ 2,256,011  
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NOTE 14 - LONG-TERM DEBT 
 
Long-term debt at May 31, 2016 and 2015 consisted of the following bonds issued by the Minnesota Higher 
Education Facilities Authority (MHEFA) on behalf of the College: 
 
  

Interest 
 Principal 

Payment 
 Year of 

Maturity 
  

Outstanding Balance 
 

       2016  2015  
           

MHEFA Variable Rate Demand 
Revenue Bonds, Series Five-
M2, issued to refinance Series 
1992 bonds 

Variable (daily 
reset) rate 

 

 None required 
until maturity 

 

2021 

   $ 8,750,000   

 

           

MHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 
Six-O, issued to finance new 
construction and advance 
refunding 

Bonds bear rates 
from 4.00% to 

5.00%  

 Annual 
payments  
range from 

$1,105,000 to 
$2,605,000 

 

2033 

 $ 9,150,000   36,650,000 

 

           

MHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 
Seven-F, issued to refinance 
variable debt 

Bonds bear rates 
from 1.30% to 

5.00% 

 Annual 
payments  
range from 

$1,105,000 to 
$2,345,000 

 

2031 

  26,580,000   27,840,000 

 

           

MHEFA Revenue Bonds, Series 
Eight-G, issued to finance 
construction and advance 
refunding 

Bonds bear rates 
from 3.00% to 

5.00% 

 Annual 
payments range 

from 
$2,145,000 to 

$4,495,000 

 

2033 

  53,745,000   

 

           
Principal outstanding on bonds     89,475,000   73,240,000  

        
Plus  Unamortized premium - Series Six-O Revenue Bonds     134,936   543,649  
    Unamortized premium - Series Seven-F Revenue Bonds     1,145,951   1,225,901  
    Unamortized premium - Series Eight-G Revenue Bonds     6,758,699    
Less: Unamortized debt issue costs     (429,885 )  (417,996 ) 

        
Total Long-Term Debt    $ 97,084,701  $ 74,591,554    

 
In fiscal 2016, the Series Five-M2 Variable Rate Demand Revenue Bonds were refunded with proceeds from 
the Series Eight-G Revenue Bonds. See Note 18 for information on the interest rate swap agreement that was 
applicable to this issue. 
 
In fiscal 2016, a portion of the Series Six-O Revenue Bonds ($26,995,000) was advanced refunded by 
proceeds from the Series Eight-G Revenue Bonds. The proceeds of the Series Eight-G Revenue Bonds related 
to the advance refunding were placed in an escrow account until October 1, 2016, at which time, the refunded 
bonds are callable and will be will be paid off. At May 31, 2016, the balance outstanding on the bonds to be 
refunded was $26,015,000 and the balance in the escrow account was $26,549,873.  
 
Subsequent to year-end, a portion of the Series Seven-F Revenue Bonds were advanced refunded. See 
Note  22. 
 
Revenue Bonds Series Six-O, Seven-F and Eight-G are secured by a pledge of loan repayment from the 
College and require that certain covenants be maintained.  
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NOTE 14 - LONG-TERM DEBT (CONTINUED) 
 
The College adopted ASU 2015-03, Interest - Imputation of interest (Subtopic 835-30): Simplifying the 
Presentation of Debt Issuance Costs, during the year ended May 31, 2016. Under the new guidance, debt 
issuance costs related to a recognized debt liability are presented as a direct reduction to the carrying amount 
of that debt liability. As required by the new guidance, the amendments were applied retrospectively to the year 
ended May 31, 2015. 
 
The College maintains short-term investments and U.S. government securities held by a trustee for retirement 
of indebtedness that totaled $4,721,333 and $5,747,970 as of May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. These 
funds are intended to satisfy the reserve requirements of the Series Six-O issue and Series Seven-F issue. In 
addition, $18,319,845 of cash and certificates of deposit related to unspent bond proceeds for construction 
projects were held by trustee as of May 31, 2016. There were no such funds at May 31, 2015. 
 
Anticipated principal payments on long-term debt (excluding the effects of the refinancing disclosed in Note 22) 
are as follows: 
 

Year Ending May 31:     
2017 $ 3,990,000    
2018  4,140,000    
2019  4,305,000    
2020  4,485,000    
2021 4,700,000    
Thereafter  67,855,000    

     
Total $ 89,475,000    

 
Annual principal payments on long-term debt after the refinancing disclosed in Note 22 for each of the five 
years subsequent to May 31, 2016 approximate: $2,145,000, $2,715,000, $2,815,000, $3,500,000 and 
$2,905,000, respectively. 
 
 
NOTE 15 - SHORT-TERM CREDIT ARRANGEMENT 
 
The College has an unsecured $5,000,000 line of credit through Wells Fargo Bank. Borrowings under this line 
of credit bear interest at an annual rate of 50 basis points below the Bank’s base (prime) rate. Interest is 
payable on the last day of each month. Principal, and any unpaid interest, is due on February 28, 2017.  In 
addition, the agreement requires the College to comply with certain financial covenants. At May 31, 2016 and 
2015, there were no outstanding borrowings under this arrangement.  
 
 
NOTE 16 - EXPENSES BY OBJECT 
 
Expenses reported by function on the statement of activities and change in net assets are summarized below 
by object for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015: 
 

 2016  2015  
     
Compensation $ 68,068,073  $ 64,826,158  
Depreciation, amortization, and accretion  11,980,783   12,224,935  
General operating expenses  9,705,935   9,271,214  
Food services  8,395,891   8,355,802  
Travel and meals  8,396,538   7,475,155  
Contract, professional services, insurance, and taxes  7,357,970   6,943,646  
Facilities - repairs, maintenance, utilities, fuel  5,075,979   5,395,353  
Interest  3,719,123   2,965,545  

     
Total $ 122,700,292  $ 117,457,808  
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NOTE 17 - DEFERRED GIFT (SPLIT-INTEREST) AGREEMENTS 
 
The College has arrangements with donors classified as charitable lead trusts, charitable remainder trusts, 
charitable gift annuities and pooled life income funds. In general, under these arrangements the College 
receives a gift from a donor in which it has an interest and agrees to pay the donor stipulated amounts. The 
arrangement may cover one or more lives. The College invests and administers the related assets and makes 
distributions to the beneficiaries as required. When the agreement reaches the end of its term, remaining assets 
are retained by the College as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or permanently restricted net assets, or in 
some instances, distributed to third-party beneficiaries. 
 
When a gift is received under one of these arrangements, it is split into the amount representing the actuarial 
present value of future distributions back to the donor and the remaining gift value to be retained for the benefit 
of the College or third-party beneficiaries. The actuarial liability is adjusted annually using actuarial tables 
appropriate for the type of arrangement, number of lives covered and age and gender characteristics of the 
beneficiary. The College used historical discount rates ranging from 1.2% to 11.6% for the years ended May 31, 
2016 and 2015 in making the actuarial and gift calculations. In some cases, there can be a time delay in the 
recording of the asset because of the time needed for discovery, verification of the College’s rights, and the 
determination of the valuation of future payments. 
 
Information pertaining to the College’s deferred gift agreements for the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015 is 
as follows:  
 

 2016  2015  
     
Cash and investments  $ 30,088,537  $ 34,953,998  
Interfund receivable  170,978   112,951  
Beneficial interest in trusts held by others, fair value  1,582,470   1,718,347  
Beneficial interest in trusts held by others, cost  491,350   491,350  
Deposits held in trust for others  (235,076 )  (1,321,607 ) 
Annuities payable   (13,073,837 )  (14,572,916 ) 
     

 $ 19,024,422  $ 21,382,123  
Net Assets     

Unrestricted $ 3,570,897  $ 3,765,434  
Temporarily restricted  1,249,306   1,814,106  
Permanently restricted  14,204,219   15,802,583  

     
 $ 19,024,422  $ 21,382,123  
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NOTE 18 - DERIVATIVES 
 
The College is exposed to certain risks that can materially impact the assets and liabilities on its statement of 
financial position. The primary risks managed by using derivative instruments are interest rate risk and 
endowment market value risk. The College used interest rate swaps to manage interest rate risk on its variable 
interest rate long-term debt instruments through July 1, 2015. The College uses futures and forward contracts 
to manage market fluctuations that affect the endowment market value. As neither the swaps nor 
futures/forward contracts meet the criteria of cash flow hedges under generally accepted accounting standards, 
the swaps are accounted for as derivatives not designated as hedging instruments. Therefore, the changes in 
fair value of each derivative are included in the statement of activities. Accounting standards require that an 
entity recognize all derivative instruments as either assets or liabilities at fair value in the statement of financial 
position. 
 
The College entered into an interest rate exchange agreement (swap) in 2002 on the Series Five-M2 bonds. At 
May 31, 2015, the College had recorded an interest rate exchange liability of $608,920 on the statement of 
financial position. This swap was terminated on July 1, 2015 as part of the Series Eight-G debt issuance. As a 
result, the College booked a gain of $26,190 during fiscal 2016, which reflected the difference between the 
interest rate exchange liability of $608,920 and the swap termination fee of $582,730. Under the swap 
agreement, the College either paid additional interest or received an interest credit each month depending on 
the relationship between the variable one month LIBOR rate and the fixed rate. For the year ended May 31, 
2015, the College recorded a gain of $188,164 relating to the change in notional value of the agreement and 
paid $255,280 under the swap agreement. The gain relating to the change in notional value and the loss for 
payments made under the swap agreement are reflected as a non-operating activity within the interest rate 
swap loss, net of settlements line on the 2015 statement of activities.  
 
The College uses futures and forward contracts to reduce or increase the endowments exposure to the financial 
markets. At May 31, 2016 and 2015, the aggregate notional value of the derivative contracts was $1,089,531 
and $4,788,319, respectively. At May 31, 2016 and 2015, the aggregate fair market value of the contract was 
recorded as an investment on the statement of financial position in the amounts of $(3) and $355, respectively. 
The income on the contracts realized during the year is represented in gains or losses on investments in the 
statement of activities. For the years ended May 31, 2016 and 2015, the College reported a realized loss 
$73,798 and a gain of $206,485, respectively.  
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NOTE 19 - CONCENTRATIONS 
 
Financial instruments that potentially subject the College to concentrations of credit risk consist principally of 
cash and cash equivalents, investments, accounts receivable, notes receivable and derivatives. Cash, cash 
equivalents and investment holdings are concentrated in a limited number of financial institutions and amounts 
in excess of FDIC and similar coverage are subject to the usual risks of balances in excess of those limits. 
Investments are diversified in order to reduce credit risk. Student loans, student receivables and other 
receivables are due from a variety of sources concentrated primarily in the Midwestern United States. In 
addition, the College’s students receive a substantial amount of support from state and federal student financial 
assistance programs which are subject to audit by governmental agencies. A significant reduction in the level of 
this support, if this were to occur, could have an adverse effect on the College’s programs and activities. 
 
 
NOTE 20 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 
The College has various signed contracts with a construction company owned by a former member of the 
Board of Regents. The contracts were approved unanimously by the Board of Regents in accordance with the 
College’s conflict of interest policy. Amounts payable to the construction company totaled approximately 
$1,654,000 and $322,000 as of May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
 
As of May 31, 2016 and 2015, approximately $2,550,000 and $2,866,000, respectively, of contributions 
receivable were due from members of the Board of Regents. Contribution revenue from members of the Board 
of Regents totaled approximately $5,071,000 and $1,801,000 for the years ending May 31, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively. Board members are not compensated. 
 
The College has invested in various private equity investments, in which members of the Investment Committee 
and Board of Regents have an affiliation. The individuals fully disclosed their interests in these investments 
when they were discussed, did not receive a commission or referral fee, and did not participate in the voting 
regarding these investments. As of May 31, 2016 and 2015, the College’s total value of these funds was 
approximately $16,299,000 and $20,444,000, respectively. The College’s cumulative contributions, net of 
distributions, to these investments as of May 31, 2016 and 2015 totaled approximately $7,637,000 and 
$10,782,000, respectively. The College’s outstanding future commitments to these investments totaled 
approximately $4,758,000 and $5,302,000 at May 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 
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NOTE 21 - SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION 
 

  2016  2015  
      
Interest paid  $ 2,661,038  $ 2,987,378  
      
Noncash Investing and Financing Activities      

Capital related items included in accounts payable   2,722,450   1,121,373  
      
Summary of Bond Issuance      

Proceeds of bond issue  $ 53,745,000    
Prior debt service reserve funds  2,235,200    
Prior debt service reserve earnings  77,015    
College contribution  151,394    
Net original issue premium  7,362,599    
  63,571,208    
Amount deposited to refunding account  (38,127,937 )   
Amount deposited to construction account  (25,000,000 )   
Amount deposited to bond and interest sinking account  (2,101 )   
Deferred debt acquisition costs  (441,170 )   
      
  $ ‒    

 
 
NOTE 22 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
The College has evaluated subsequent events through October 5, 2016, which is the date that the financial 
statements were issued. 
 
On August 10, 2016, the College issued $22,845,000 in tax-exempt bonds, Series Eight-N, through the 
Minnesota Higher Education Facilities Authority (MHEFA). In addition to the principal amount, premiums on the 
bonds are $2,783,247, for total net proceeds of $25,628,247. A portion of the debt service reserve fund on 
Series Seven-F ($1,866,000) will supplement the Eight-N bond proceeds to fund identified costs. 
 
The bond proceeds will be used to: 
 

> Provide for the refunding on an advance refunding basis a portion of the outstanding principal 
($24,465,000) of Series Seven-F bonds, callable on October 1, 2016. 

> Pay certain issuance costs. 
 
The Series Eight-N Revenue Bonds have interest rates varying from 2.25% to 4.00% and mature in annual 
amounts ranging from $370,000 to $5,760,000 beginning on October 1, 2020. 
 
On October 3, 2016, the College also paid off the remaining principal balance of $9,150,000 on the Series Six-
O bonds. 
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Pass-through
Federal Pass- Entity

Federal Grantor/ CFDA through Identification Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Entity Number Expenditures

STUDENT FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE CLUSTER
U.S. Department of Education

Federal Pell Grant Program 84.063 2,072,610$    
Federal Supplemental Educational Opportunity Grants 84.007 337,872         
Federal Work-Study Program 84.033 364,610         
Federal Perkins Loan Program 84.038 6,771,713      
Federal Direct Student Loans 84.268 11,630,777    

Total U.S. Department of Education 21,177,582    

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services
Nursing Student Loans 93.364 67,158           

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 67,158           
Total Student Financial Assistance Cluster 21,244,740    

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT CLUSTER
National Science Foundation 

Mathematical and Physical Sciences 47.049 318,236         
Mathematical and Physical Sciences 47.049 16,536           
Mathematical and Physical Sciences 47.049 5,744             

Total Mathematical and Physical Sciences 340,516         

Geosciences 47.050 79,010           
Computer and Information Science and Engineering 47.070 77,207           

Biological Sciences 47.074 16,922           
Biological Sciences 47.074 188,870         
Biological Sciences 47.074 University of MN N002588701 25                 

Total Biological Sciences 205,817         

Education and Human Resources 47.076 43,132           
Education and Human Resources 47.076 30,492           
Education and Human Resources 47.076 17,765           
Education and Human Resources 47.076 University of MN  H002726311 37,463           

Total Education and Human Resources 128,852         

Trans-NSF Recovery Act Research Support 47.082 6,205             
Trans-NSF Recovery Act Research Support 47.082 8,006             

Total Trans-NSF Recovery Act Research Support 14,211           

Total National Science Foundation 845,613         

U.S. Department of Health and Human Services  
National Institutes of Health

Biomedical Research and Research Training 93.859 106,274         
Aging Research 93.866 7,382             

Total U.S. Department of Health and Human Services 113,656         
Department of Justice

National Institute of Justice
 National Institute of Justice Research, Evaluation, and 
  Development Project Grants  16.560 31,316           

Total Department of Justice 31,316           
National Endowment for the Humanities

Promotion of the Humanities Professional Development 45.163 18,679           
Total National Endowment for the Humanities 18,679           

Department of Defense Program
Department of Navy, Office of the Chief Naval Research

Basic and Applied Scientific Research 12.300 Duke University 313-0617 62,435           
Total Department of Defense 62,435           

Office of Personnel Management
Intergovernmental Personnel Act (IPA) Mobility Program 27.011 20                 

Total Office of Personnel Management 20                 
Total Research and Development Cluster 1,071,719      

ST. OLAF COLLEGE

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended May 31, 2016
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Pass-through
Federal Pass- Entity

Federal Grantor/ CFDA through Identification Federal
Program or Cluster Title Number Entity Number Expenditures

TRIO PROGRAMS CLUSTER
U.S. Department of Education

TRIO - Student Support Services 84.042 242,142$       
TRIO - Talent Search 84.044 314,187         
TRIO - Upward Bound 84.047 381,357         
TRIO - McNair Post-Baccalaureate Achievement 84.217 209,359         

Total TRIO Programs Cluster 1,147,045      

OTHER PROGRAMS
U.S. Department of Education

 Fund for the Improvement of Postsecondary Education 84.116 Bryn Mawr College 47480-8 118                
Total U.S. Department of Education 118                

U.S. Department of Commerce 
National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST)

Science, Technology, Business and/or Education Outreach 11.620 5,234             
Total U.S. Department of Commerce 5,234             

 U.S. Department of Agriculture
  Food and Nutrition Service
     Summer Food Service Program for Children 10.559

 MN Dept. of Education - 
Food and Nutrition Service 2MN300061 12,839           

Total U.S. Department of Agriculture 12,839           

TOTAL EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 23,481,695$  

ST. OLAF COLLEGE

SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS
For the Year Ended May 31, 2016
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ST. OLAF COLLEGE 
 

NOTES TO SCHEDULE OF EXPENDITURES OF FEDERAL AWARDS 
For the Year Ended May 31, 2016 

 
 
NOTE 1 - BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The accompanying schedule of expenditures of federal awards (“the Schedule”) includes federal grant activity 
of St. Olaf College under programs of the federal government for the year ended May 31, 2016. The information 
in this schedule is presented in accordance with the requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations 
Part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards 
(Uniform Guidance). Because this Schedule presents only a selected portion of the operations of St. Olaf 
College, it is not intended to and does not present the financial position, changes in net assets or cash flows of 
St. Olaf College.  
 
 
NOTE 2 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Expenditures reported in the Schedule are reported on the accrual basis of accounting. Such expenditures are 
recognized following, as applicable, either the cost principles in Office of Management and Budget Circular A-
21, Cost Principles for Educational Institutions, or the cost principles contained in the Title 2 U.S. Code of 
Federal Regulations part 200, Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements 
for Federal Awards, wherein certain types of expenditures are not allowable or are limited as to reimbursement. 
 
 
NOTE 3 - INDIRECT COST RATE 
 
St. Olaf College has elected not to use the 10% de minimis indirect cost rate. 
 
 
NOTE 4 - FEDERAL STUDENT LOAN PROGRAMS 
 
The federal student loan programs listed below are administered directly by St. Olaf College, and balances and 
transactions relating to these programs are included in the College’s basic financial statements. Loans 
outstanding at the beginning of the year and loans made during the year are included in the federal 
expenditures presented in the Schedule. The balance of loans outstanding at May 31, 2016 consist of: 
 

 

CFDA Number  Program Name  

Outstanding 
Balance at  

May 31,2016  
       

 84.038  Federal Perkins Loan Program  $ 5,732,869  
       
 94.364  Nursing Student Loans  $ 52,715  
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON COMPLIANCE AND OTHER
MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH

GOVERNMENT AUDITING STANDARDS

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Regents
St. Olaf College
Northfield, Minnesota

We have audited, in accordance with the auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the
Comptroller General of the United States, the financial statements of St. Olaf College, which comprise the
statement of financial position as of May 31, 2016, and the related statements of activities and cash flows for the
year then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements, and have issued our report thereon dated
October 5, 2016.

Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered St. Olaf College's internal control
over financial reporting (internal control) to determine the audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of St. Olaf College's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express
an opinion on the effectiveness of St. Olaf College's internal control.

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct,
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial
statements will not be prevented, or detected and corrected on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a
deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet
important enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section
and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or
significant deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal
control that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified. 
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Compliance and Other Matters

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether St. Olaf College's financial statements are free from
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations,
contracts, and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the
determination of financial statement amounts. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those
provisions was not an objective of our audit, and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of
our tests disclosed no instances of noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under
Government Auditing Standards.

Purpose of this Report

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and
the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not
suitable for any other purpose. 

Minneapolis, Minnesota
October 5, 2016

Page 39



REPORT ON COMPLIANCE FOR EACH MAJOR FEDERAL PROGRAM AND REPORT ON INTERNAL
CONTROL OVER COMPLIANCE REQUIRED BY THE UNIFORM GUIDANCE 

Independent Auditors' Report

To the Board of Regents
St. Olaf College
Northfield, Minnesota

Report on Compliance for Each Major Federal Program

We have audited St. Olaf College's compliance with the types of compliance requirements described in the OMB
Compliance Supplement that could have a direct and material effect on each of St. Olaf College's major federal
programs for the year ended May 31, 2016. St. Olaf College's major federal programs are identified in the
summary of auditors' results section of the accompanying schedule of findings and questioned costs.

Management's Responsibility

Management is responsible for compliance with the requirements of federal statutes, regulations, and the terms
and conditions of its federal awards applicable to its federal programs.

Auditors' Responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on compliance for each of St. Olaf College's major federal programs
based on our audit of the types of compliance requirements referred to above. We conducted our audit of
compliance in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America; the
standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the Comptroller
General of the United States; and the audit requirements of Title 2 U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200,
Uniform Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles, and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards (Uniform
Guidance). Those standards and the Uniform Guidance require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether noncompliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to
above that could have a direct and material effect on a major federal program occurred. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence about St. Olaf College's compliance with those requirements and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances.

We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion on compliance for each major federal
program. However, our audit does not provide a legal determination of St. Olaf College's compliance.
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Opinion on Each Major Federal Program

In our opinion, St. Olaf College complied, in all material respects, with the types of compliance requirements
referred to above that could have a direct and material effect on each of its major federal programs for the year
ended May 31, 2016.

Report on Internal Control Over Compliance

Management of St. Olaf College is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
compliance with the types of compliance requirements referred to above. In planning and performing our audit of
compliance, we considered St. Olaf College's internal control over compliance with the types of requirements
that could have a direct and material effect on each major federal program to determine the auditing procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances for the purpose of expressing an opinion on compliance for each major
federal program and to test and report on internal control over compliance in accordance with the Uniform
Guidance, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of internal control over
compliance. Accordingly, we do not express an opinion on the effectiveness of St. Olaf College's internal control
over compliance.

A deficiency in internal control over compliance exists when the design or operation of a control over compliance
does not allow management or employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to
prevent, or detect and correct, noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program on a
timely basis. A material weakness in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or combination of
deficiencies, in internal control over compliance, such that there is a reasonable possibility that material
noncompliance with a type of compliance requirement of a federal program will not be prevented, or detected
and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency in internal control over compliance is a deficiency, or a
combination of deficiencies, in internal control over compliance with a type of compliance requirement of a
federal program that is less severe than a material weakness in internal control over compliance, yet important
enough to merit attention by those charged with governance.

Our consideration of internal control over compliance was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph
of this section and was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control over compliance that might be
material weaknesses or significant deficiencies.  We did not identify any deficiencies in internal control over
compliance that we consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not
been identified.

The purpose of this report on internal control over compliance is solely to describe the scope of our testing of
internal control over compliance and the results of that testing based on the requirements of the Uniform
Guidance. Accordingly, this report is not suitable for any other purpose.

Minneapolis, Minnesota
October 5, 2016
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ST. OLAF COLLEGE 
 

SCHEDULE OF FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
For the Year Ended May 31, 2016 

 
 

SECTION I - SUMMARY OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ RESULTS 
 
Financial Statements 

Type of auditors’ report issued: Unmodified 
Internal control over financial reporting:  

Material weakness(es) identified? No 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None reported 

Noncompliance material to financial statements noted? No 
 
Federal Awards  

Internal control over major programs:  
Material weakness(es) identified? No 
Significant deficiency(ies) identified? None reported 

Type of auditors’ report issued on compliance for major programs? Unmodified 
Any audit findings disclosed that are required to be reported in accordance with 2 CFR 

516(a) of the Uniform Guidance? 
 

No 
Identification of major programs: 
 

 CFDA 
Number 

  
Name of Federal Program or Cluster 

    
 Various  Student Financial Assistance Cluster 
 Various  TRiO Cluster 

 
Dollar threshold used to distinguish between Type A and Type B programs $750,000 
Auditee qualified as low-risk auditee? Yes 

 
 
SECTION II - FINANCIAL STATEMENT FINDINGS 
 

None noted. 
 
 
SECTION III - FEDERAL AWARD FINDINGS AND QUESTIONED COSTS 
 

None noted. 
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ST. OLAF COLLEGE 
 

SUMMARY SCHEDULE OF PRIOR AUDIT FINDINGS 
For the Year Ended May 31, 2016 

 
 
The previous audit of the Federal Award Programs was for the year ended May 31, 2015. There were no federal 
award findings or questioned costs reported in that audit. 
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	The College entered into an interest rate exchange agreement (swap) in 2002 on the Series Five-M2 bonds. At May 31, 2015, the College had recorded an interest rate exchange liability of $608,920 on the statement of financial position. This swap was te...
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	As of May 31, 2016 and 2015, approximately $2,550,000 and $2,866,000, respectively, of contributions receivable were due from members of the Board of Regents. Contribution revenue from members of the Board of Regents totaled approximately $5,071,000 a...
	The College has invested in various private equity investments, in which members of the Investment Committee and Board of Regents have an affiliation. The individuals fully disclosed their interests in these investments when they were discussed, did n...
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